IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 95-60331
Summary Cal endar

JOHNNI E HAWKI NS,

Pl ai ntiff-Appellant,
VERSUS
M CRCFI BRES, | NC.

Def endant - Appel | ee.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Northern District of M ssissipp
(1: 94- CV- 86)

January 31, 1996
Before KING SM TH, and BENAVIDES, G rcuit Judges.

JERRY EE. SMTH, Circuit Judge:”’

Pl ai ntiff Johnni e Hawki ns appeal s a summary judgnent.?! 1In her
first claim she all eges wongful discharge under M ssissippi |aw,

contendi ng that defendant M crofibres discharged her because she

Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the court has determ ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.

! Hawki ns al so raises a contractual claim which she refers to as
“estoppel.” W do not reviewthis claim as it is a new issue raised for the

first tine on appeal. See Atlantic Mut. Ins. Co. v. Truck Ins. Exch., 797 F.2d
1288, 1293 (5th Cir. 1986).



reported to conpany officials an allegedly illegal act commtted by
her supervisor. In her second claim she alleges enploynent
discrimnationin violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act,
42 U.S.C. 8§ 12101-12213 (West 1995) (“ADA’), contending that
M crofi bres di scharged her because it regarded her as di sabled. W
affirmthe sunmary judgnent as to the state |law claimand reverse

and remand as to the ADA claim

| .

Mcrofibres, a North Carolina corporation, manufactures and
distributes fabric for upholstered furniture. Hawkins, a citizen
and resident of Mssissippi, worked for Mcrofibres at their
war ehouse distribution facility in Tupelo, M ssissippi. Although

her job title was “office nmanager,” her duties primarily consisted
of data entry and general office duties. M crofibres actively
enpl oyed Hawkins from about Septenber 1987 to m d-January 1994,
when M crofibres put her on an indefinite, unpaid | eave of absence.

Hawki ns’ s i nmedi at e supervi sor, Darnell Ceorge, gave her good
performance reviews until the 1993 inventory, which reveal ed that
the warehouse had no “Reno Onyx” fabric in stock, even though
Hawki ns’ s conputer records showed that it should have. Hawki ns
al | egedl y becane suspi ci ous and i nvestigated the matter, concl udi ng
that George was inproperly holding shipping records in a “hold
file,” causing the conpany not to be paid for fabric that had been

shi pped out. In April 1993, Hawkins reported to Mcrofibres’s

managenent that George was allegedly commtting m snanagenent



and/ or theft.

According to Hawki ns, Ceorge learned of Hawki ns’ s
investigation and initiated a pattern of harassnent, including
such behavior as elimnating Hawki ns’s overtinme and stripping her
of her duties as office nmanager. |In response to Hawkins' s initi al
report to managenent, the conpany’s director of human resources,
Janice Vogler, cane to Tupelo to investigate Hawkins's reports.
According to Hawkins, Vogler was unconcerned about the alleged
i nproprieties.

Ceorge, after discussing Hawkins's allegations wth Vogler
offered to resign. Vogler refused to accept the resignation and
visited CGeorge’s hone because, according to Hawkins, Vogler was
very upset about the whole matter.

After Vogler’s investigationSSonce again, according to
Hawki nsSSGeorge began systematically filing conplaints about
Hawki ns’ s behavior and relaying them to Vogler. On January 14,
1994, Vogler placed Hawkins on an indefinite, unpaid |eave of
absence, purportedly because of Hawkins's allegedly disruptive
behavi or.

Vogl er referred Hawkins to Mcrofibres’s enpl oyee assi stance
program (“EAP”) to assist her in correcting that behavior. Vogler
told Hawkins that she would have to cooperate fully with any
treat nent recomended t hrough the EAP, and that an EAP provi der had
to provide her wwth clearance to return to work before she woul d be
consi dered for reinstatenent.

Two psychol ogi sts exam ned Hawkins through the EAP. The



first, who |l ater stopped treating Hawki ns because of a conflict of
interest, reported his findings to Mcrofibres. Hi s report stated
that he could not release Hawkins to return to work because she
persisted in denying that she had a problem The second psychol o-
gist cleared Hawkins to return to work; however, while Hawkins
appears to inply that Mcrofibres saw this report, the conpany
contends that it never received the report until Hawki ns nmade her
mandat ory pre-di scovery disclosures during this litigation.

It is undisputed that Mcrofibres persisted in refusing to
permt Hawkins to return to work. She remains on an unpaid
indefinite | eave of absence.

Sone issues of fact are hotly contested.? Hawkins contends
that Mcrofibres has discharged her. Wile it is undisputed that
Hawki ns remains on | eave, the parties cannot agree as to whether
she has been di scharged. That is a m xed question of | aw and fact,
the answer to which depends in significant part upon the facts
surrounding Mcrofibres’s decision to place Hawki ns on | eave.

Anot her di sputed fact i nvol ves the reasons behi nd
Mcrofibres’s decision to place Hawkins on |eave. M crofi bres
contends that it was for disruptive behavior, including but not
limted to the foll ow ng: (1) refusing to speak with fellow
enpl oyees for prolonged periods, even days at a tine; (2) turning
around and |ooking away when answering direct questions;

(3) arguing frequently over incidental matters; (4) refusing to

2\W focus here on contested facts relevant to the ADAclaim as we affirm
sunmary judgnment on the wongful discharge claim
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hel p answer the tel ephones during busy periods; (5) refusing to
cooperate in routine procedures, <causing work to pile up;
(6) staring at a co-worker for protracted periods; (7) sitting in
her car in the parking lot for a long tine while watching other
enpl oyees | eave work; (8) waving papers in Ceorge’'s face while
saying in a sing-song voice, “I’m working, |I’'m working”; (9)
letting her work pile up while reading recreational materials;
(10) throw ng docunents and paperwork on co-workers’ desks instead
of handing it to them (11) spying and eavesdroppi ng on co-workers;
and (12) dancing jigs around a co-worker’s desk while singing or
humm ng “Wien the Saints Go Marching In.”

Hawkins either directly contradicts these allegations or
characterizes themin a nuch nore i nnocent |ight. For exanple, she
admts to occasionally humm ng a song, usually one she heard at
church, but denies that she danced a jig around a desk.

Hawkins offers an alternative reason for Mecrofibres's
actions, contending that the conpany put her on |eave because it
regarded her as disabled. In support of this claim she alleges
that Vogler insist she undergo “behavior nodification” therapy.
According to Hawkins, Vogler advised her to apply for disability
benefits, gave her disability claim forns, and referred her to

psychol ogi sts for treatnent.

.
W review a grant of summary judgnent de novo. Hanks v.

Transcontinental Gas Pipe Line Corp., 953 F.2d 996, 997 (5th Gr.



1992). Summary judgnent s appropriate "if the pleadings,
depositions, answers to interrogatories, and adm ssions on file,
together wwth the affidavits, if any, showthat there is no genui ne
i ssue as to any material fact and that the noving party is entitled
to a judgnent as a matter of law." FED. R Qv. P. 56(c). The
party seeki ng sunmary judgnent carries the burden of denonstrating
that there is an absence of evidence to support the non-noving
party's case. Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U. S. 317, 325 (1986).
After a proper notion for summary judgnent is nmade, the non-novant
must set forth specific facts showi ng that there is a genuine issue
for trial. Hanks, 953 F.2d at 997.

W begin our determnation by consulting the applicable
substantive law to determ ne what facts and issues are materi al
King v. Chide, 974 F.2d 653, 655-56 (5th Gr. 1992). We then
reviewthe evidence relating to those i ssues, view ng the facts and
inferences in the Iight nost favorable to the non-novant. 1d. |If
t he non-novant sets forth specific facts in support of allegations
essential to his claim a genuine issue is presented. Celotex, 477

UsS at 327.

L1l
M ssissippi is an enploynent-at-will state, although certain
exceptions to that doctrine have arisen. MArn v. Allied Bruce-
Termnix Co., 626 So. 2d 603, 606-07 (Mss. 1993). MArn estab-
i shed a “narrow public policy exception” to the enploynent-at-w ||

doctrine: An enployee may sue for wongful discharge when fired



(1) for refusing to participate in an illegal act and (2) for
reporting “illegal acts of his enployer” to his enpl oyer or anyone
else. 1d. at 607.

Hawki ns argues that she was fired in violation of the second
prong of this public policy exception. That prong applies,
however, only if the reported acts wre (1) illegal and
(2) commtted by her enpl oyer.

Hawki ns’s conclusionary allegations and summary judgnent
evi dence establish no nore than a poor busi ness practice or perhaps
petty theft. Poor business practices are not illegal and do not
satisfy McArn. W assune arguendo t hat Hawki ns has establ i shed her
all egations of petty theft and that petty theft is sufficient to
meet the illegality requirenment of MArn. She still cannot
prevail, however, as she cannot denonstrate that the theft was
commtted by her enployer.

Hawki ns al | eged t hat George, her supervisor, was stealing from
Mcrofibres by manipulating its shipping records. Hawki ns,
however, necessarily nust argue that George was acti ng on behal f of
McrofibresSSi.e., as its agentSSin order to neet the requirenent
in MArn that the reported act have been conm tted by her enpl oyer.
| f George was stealing fromMcrofibres, then she was acting i n her
i ndi vi dual capacity, and not as Mcrofibres’s agent. To assert the
contrary would |l ead to the absurd conclusion that Mcrofibres was
stealing fromitself.

Hawki ns therefore cannot prove that the act she reported was

both illegal and an act of her enployer. Because she cannot



satisfy the requirenents of the MArn exception, her state |aw

cl ai m cannot proceed.

| V.

Hawkins also alleges that Mcrofibres violated the ADA by
term nati ng her because the conpany regarded her as disabled. The
ADA prohibits an enployer fromdiscrimnating against a qualified
individual with a disability because of the disability. 42 U S. C
§ 12112(a).

The ADA has three definitions of “disability.” 42 U. S. C
§ 12102(2). The third one defines “disability” as being regarded
as havi ng a physical or nental inpairnment that substantially limts
one or nore major life activities. 42 U S. C. § 12102(2)(C); see
also 42 U S.C 8§ 12102(A). Being significantly restricted in the
general activity of working is a substantial limtation of a major
life activity, but being unable to performa particular job is not.
See 29 C.F.R § 1630.2(j)(3)(1); see also § 1630.2(j)(2)(1)
(stating that working is a mgjor life activity). “Qualified
i ndividual with a disability” means an individual wwth a disability
who can performthe essential functions of his job, either with or
wi t hout reasonabl e accommodati on.

Hawkins brings a “regarded-as-having-a-disability” claim
proceedi ng under the ADA's third definition of “disability.” An
enpl oynent discrimnation plaintiff, in order to defeat summary
judgnent on a “regarded-as-having-a-disability” claim under the

ADA, nust establish at |east that a genuine issue of material fact



exists with respect to the following elenents of the claim (1) He
was qualified, i.e., could performthe essential functions of his
job, either with or w thout reasonable accommobdation; (2) he was
regarded as “disabled” within the neaning of the ADA, i.e., his
enpl oyer regarded him as having a physical or nental inpairnent
that substantially limted one or nore major life activities; and
(3) he was discrimnated agai nst because of the disability.

The record shows that a genuine issue of material fact exists
as to each of these elenents except the first. Mcrofibres admts
that Hawkins is qualified, conceding that she is capable of
perform ng her job.

Hawki ns all eges that Mcrofibres considered her as having a
ment al i npairnment that substantially limted her ability towork in
general. Mcrofibres admts that it placed her on an indefinite
| eave of absence, which constitutes a significant restriction on
Hawkins’s ability to work. Mcrofibres al so concedes that it asked
Hawki ns to undergo psychol ogi cal evaluations, although it clains
that it did so to correct behavioral problens rather than a nental
inpairment. Mcrofibres’s positioninthis regard is underm ned by
the fact that Vogler gave Hawkins an application to fill out so
that she could receive disability benefits. This application
furthernore, was entitled “Disability Claim”

Finally, Hawkins contends that Mcrofibres put her on an
unpai d | eave of absence because it regarded her as disabled. The
nmost direct evidence on this elenent is that Vogler gave Hawkins

the disability forns right after placing her on an indefinite | eave



of absence. Furthernore, GCeorge’'s docunentation of Hawkins’'s
behavi or, whi ch George had made avail abl e to t he conpany, concl uded
that “[s]onmething [was] wong” with her [Hawkins] and that she was
“ill.re

It would not be beyond reason for a trier of fact to concl ude
fromthis evidence that Mcrofibres regarded Hawki ns as di sabl ed.
Summary judgnent on this claim was therefore inappropriate.
Accordi ngly, we AFFI RM summary judgnent on the wongful discharge
claim REVERSE sunmary judgnent on the ADA claim and REMAND for
further proceedings as to the latter. W express no view on the

parties’ respective chances of ultimte success in this case.

3 Hawkins al so points to the fact that she was not reinstated to her forner
position, even after the second psychol ogi st fromthe EAP cleared her to return
to work. Wether Mcrofibres had access to the second psychol ogist’s report is
critical to an accurate interpretation of this action. |In any event, a jury
coul d consider the first psychol ogist’s reportSSwhich characterized Hawki ns as
havi ng a probl em preventing her fromreturning to workSSas evidence supporting
the inference that Mcrofibres resisted reinstating Hawki ns because it regarded
her, in a general sense, as unfit to return to work.
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